THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
In the Court of Appeals

APPEAL FROM HORRY COUNTY
Court of Common Pleas

Larry B. Hyman, Jr., Circuit Judge for The Fifteenth Judicial Circuit

Case No. 2012-213156

Scott Lemons and Gold Coast
Resorts.....Appellants

v.

The McNair Law Firm, P.A.....Respondent

APPELLANTS' FINAL BRIEF

Mark W. Hardee
Hardee Law Firm
2301 Devine Street
Columbia, South Carolina 29205
(803) 799-0905
Attorney for Appellants

RECEIVED
OCT 15 2013
SC Court of Appeals

RECEIVED
OCT 15 2013
SC Court of Appeals

STATEMENT OF ISSUES ON APPEAL

- I. THE COURT ERRED IN FINDING THE APPELLANT'S UNDERLYING CASE HAD NO VALUE.**
- II. THE COURT ERRED IN FINDING THAT THE APPELLANT'S CLAIMS AGAINST THE MCNAIR LAW FIRM ARE BARRED BY COLLATERAL ESTOPPEAL.**
- III. THE COURT ERRED IN FINDING THAT THE MCNAIR LAW FIRM CAN LIE TO ITS CLIENTS ABOUT A DOCUMENT, AND THEN RELY ON THAT DOCUMENT AS PROTECTION BY RELEASE OR RATIFICATION.**

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

Appellants filed a Complaint against the McNair Law Firm and its former partner Mark McAdams on September 27, 2010. (R. pp. 63) The McNair Law Firm answered on January 3, 2011.

Mr. McAdams was unable to be served and the Appellants proceeded against McNair. When the case came to trial on May 14, 2012 before the Hon. Steven John. In the middle of the Appellants' case, counsel for Appellants informed Judge Johns that Mark McAdams was not a party to the case, as he had never been served and never filed an answer. Even though McNair had never inquired about the status of Mr. McAdams, and had never included him on any notices of depositions or any other matters, claimed that they were surprised by this information and moved for a mistrial. Judge John granted a mistrial on May 15, 2012.

Subsequent to the mistrial, for the first time, McNair Law Firm moved for Summary Judgment with a shotgun motion listing four grounds. (R. pp. 21) The case was assigned to Hon. Larry B. Hyman who heard the motion on July 30, 2012 and allowed the parties to submit additional information. On September 4, 2012 Judge Hyman issued a Summary Judgment Order granting Summary Judgment on every ground raised by McNair. (R. pp. 1) The Appellant received the Order on September 18, 2012 filed a Notice of Appeal on October 12, 2012.

Facts

The Summary Judgment Order does not set forth facts in the light most favorable to Lemons. The facts in the light most favorable to the Appellants are:

McNair Law Firm, represented the Appellants, Scott Lemon and Gold Coast Resorts Inc. (hereinafter Lemons) in several matters between 2006-2008. In the fall of 2006 Mr. Lemons held an option to purchase a piece of property on the intercoastal waterway in Horry County. Mr. Lemons was approached by a buyer named Kenny Hyatt, who purchased this property from him, for a sale price of 1.5 million dollars more than Mr. Lemons' option. (R. pp. 356) The contract signed by Mr. Hyatt was a no conditions contract. (R. pp. 367)

Mr. Hyatt was introduced to Mr. Lemons by a real estate agent Mr. Naomi. Mr. Lemons was ready willing and able to close on the property and anticipated a simultaneous closing. (Sup.R.pp.1-3; 17-18) Mr. Hyatt testified in his deposition that he did not have the funds to close on the closing date, and that if Mr. Lemon's had closed on his property, Mr. Hyatt would not have

been able to close. (R. pp. 346-347; 349-351; 354-355). Mr. Hyatt failed to close on the property, and Mr. Lemons contacted the McNair Law Firm to represent him for this Breach of Contract. Before the action could be filed, Mr. Lemons was sued by the real estate agent for the commission regarding sale of the property. (R. pp. 356) Mark McAdams, a partner with the McNair Law Firm at the time, filed a Third Party Complaint against Mr. Hyatt for failure to close on the no conditions contract. (R. pp. 373) The McNair Law Firm researched Mr. Lemon's case and concluded that Mr. Lemon had a viable case against Hyatt. (R. pp. 456; 458) Mr. McAdams told Mr. Lemons that he should not settle his claims for under one million dollars. (Sup. R. pp.6)

The case proceeded to go through normal discovery, and the case was mediated in May 2008. Mr. Lemons did not know of the mediation, and it is undisputed that he did not attend. (R. pp. 214-221, Sup. R. pp. 13-14) Mark McAdams signed a settlement agreement of the 1.5 million dollar Breach of Contract case against Kenny Hyatt, on behalf of, and without the authority of, Mr. Lemons, in the amount

of five thousand dollars (\$5,000). (R. pp. 392) It's undisputed that Lemons never saw the settlement document.

Several days later, Mr. Lemons was called by Mr. McAdams to come to his office to sign some paper work. At this time Mr. Lemons had never seen the release. (R. pp. 212-213, Sup. R. pp. 7-12; R. pp. 214-221) It is unconstructed that Mr. Lemons was told by Mr. McAdams that Mr. Lemons needed to sign a release of the earnest money in the case, and that Mr. Lemons would receive five thousand dollars of it. (R. pp. 395) Mr. Lemons was told that the case against Mr. Hyatt would go forward. In other words, Mr. McAdams lied to his client Mr. Lemons. (R. pp. 214-221; Sup. R. pp. 13-15; Sup. R. pp. 15-16; R. pp. 233) Mr. Lemons later learned that Mr. McAdams had settled the case without his knowledge for five thousand dollars (\$5,000), and that the paper work that he had Mr. Lemons sign was a complete release of the claims.

The case by the real estate agent Mr. Naomi proceeded to trial against Mr. Lemons, who was represented by Mark McAdams, which resulted in a judgment against Mr. Lemons in excess of two hundred thousand dollars (\$200,000). (R. pp. 400) Mark McAdams was fired by The McNair Law

Firm just after the trial of that case, and the file was transferred to attorney Tommy Brittain, who was able to have the judgment overturned. (R. pp. 419) Mr. Lemon's failure to close on his contract was not an issue at trial or on appeal.

Mr. Lemons is claiming malpractice by the McNair Law Firm, for settling a valuable claim worth 1.5 million dollars, for \$5000, without his knowledge or consent. (R. pp. 442) Mr. Lemons alleges that the reason Mr. McAdams would do such a thing is that, at the same time this was going on, Mr. McAdams secretly replaced Mr. Lemons as a partner in a business deal, that at the time, everyone involved thought was worth millions of dollars. (R. pp. 212-213; Sup. R. pp 7-12; R. pp. 231-232; Sup. R. pp 15) This "business deal", named Global Holdings, was a deal put together by the McNair Law Firm. It has since proven to have been a fraudulent scheme, and is being investigated by the SEC and the FBI.

Mr. McAdams became extremely hateful of Mr. Lemons during this time period because of this conflict of intent. (R. pp. 455) Mr. Lemons has alleged legal malpractice, claiming that the McNair Law Firm, while representing the Plaintiff, breached the standard of care, and was negligent by settling a valuable claim for less than it was worth without the

knowledge or permission of their client. Mr. Lemon's expert witness in this regard is attorney John Freeman. (R. pp. 442)

The Summary Judgment Order misrepresents the facts in several instances including: By insinuating that Lemons agreed to settle his Hyatt case, (R. pp. 2) when the uncontested facts are that Lemons was lied to by McAdams, and that Lemons never intended to settle that claim. (R. pp. 214-221; Sup. R. pp 13-14), by stating that McNair mailed the release to Lemons (R. pp. 2) when Lemons testified that he did not receive it (R. pp. 214-221; Sup. R. pp 13-14), by stating on p.3 of the Order that Lemons "claims not to have read" the release, when it is uncontested that Lemons was not allowed to read it, but was lied to by McNair as to its contents (R. pp 214-221; Sup. R. pp 13-14; R. pp. 231-233; Sup. R. pp 15-16), and by stating in a footnote on pg.5 of the Summary Judgment Order that Lemons has not complained of any other aspect of McNairs representation, when Lemons complained, and presented evidence, that McNair had a conflict of interest with him regarding the Global Holdings Business deal while they were representing him in this contract matter, which influenced their actions. (R. pp. 69, R. pp. 212-213; Sup. R. pp 7-12; R. pp. 455)

LEGAL STANDARD

Summary judgment shall only be granted “if the pleadings, depositions, answers to interrogatories, and admissions on file, together with the affidavits, if any, show that there is no genuine issue as to any material fact and that the moving party is entitled to a judgment as a matter of law” Rule 56(c), SCRCP. “In determining whether any triable issue of fact exists, the evidence and all inferences which can reasonable be drawn therefrom must be viewed in the light most favorable to the nonmoving party.” *Quail Hill, LLC v. County of Richland*, 387 S.C. 223,235,692 S.E.2d 499, 505 (2010).

ARGUMENT

I. THE COURT ERRED IN FINDING THAT THE APPELLANTS' UNDERLYING CASE HAD NO VALUE.

The Trial Court's first ground for Summary Judgment, was that Mr. Lemon's claims against Hyatt in the underlying matter were worthless. This very issue was researched by McNair Law Firm prior to bringing the underlying suit. The record contains a memorandum from McNair Law Firm addressing the issue as to whether or not there was liability on the behalf of Mr. Hyatt, which the answer was "probably yes".(R. pp. 456)

The case the McNair Law Firm relied on at that time was *Searles v. Alud*, 118 S.C. 430, 111, S.E. 785 (1922). That case holds that not having title to property at the time of a contract for sale, is not sufficient to indicate an impossibility of compliance.

At the time of performance, Mr. Hyatt indicated he was not able to go forward on his contract. (R. pp. 347 - 355) Both the realtor's attorneys and McNair thought Mr. Lemons breach of contract action was viable. (R. pp. 458)

Mr. Lemons did not go through with the purchase of the property once he learned that Hyatt did not intend to honor his contract. (R. pp. 151) He testified that he was ready, willing and able to, but instead, wanted to wait and see how the breach of contract law suit unfolded before making that decision. (R. pp 188-189, Sup. R. pp 4-5; R. pp. 190-191; Sup. R. pp 19)

Mr. Lemons was ready, willing and able to obtain title to the property prior to Hyatt's breach of contract. He testified that the deal was supposed to be a simultaneous closing. Mr. Hyatt testified that he was not willing or able to close on his contract. Once learning that Hyatt was going to breach the contract however, Lemons was under no duty to perform a futile act.

A repudiation of a contract before time of performance gives the adverse party the right to treat the entire contract as broken, and sue immediately for damages. There is no need to tender performance or compliance with conditions precedent. 17 Am Jur 2nd Contracts 737,740.

The contract signed by Hyatt contained no conditions or contingencies. However, the trial court created a rule of law of "dependent concurrent conditions".

This term is not found in Westlaw's (Rest. Contr.) database covering the Restatement of Contracts.

However, a South Carolina case is directly on point. *Dubignon v. Loud*, 7 Rich. 193, S.C.L. 193, 1854 WL 2797 (S.C. App.L. 1854) holds: “A vendor cannot maintain an action for the purchase-money, nor (as we have determined in this case) for damages, when his part of the agreement, unexecuted, is precedent, or concurrent, without an actual performance, on his part, or tender and refusal-without executing and offering a conveyance, where that is his duty, unless the purchaser has discharged him from so doing.” The court goes on to recognize the rule of law that: “The party must show he was ready; but if the other stops him on the ground of an intention not to perform his part, it is not necessary for the first to go further, and do a nugatory act”.(id.) The law is clearly settled that Mr. Lemons was under no obligation to perform the futile or “nugatory” act of closing to maintain his breach of contract action against Hyatt.

Other states recognize the same proposition. In *Angle v. Marco Builders Inc.*, 128 Ariz. 396, 626 P2d 126 (1981), the court held, “Actual tender becomes unnecessary where it would have been a futile act, as here, where appellees could not concurrently tender performance by conveying the deed since no house had yet been constructed.” This is a basic rule of contract law. Further, this was never an issue in the underlying case, at trial or at the Court of Appeals.

II. THE COURT ERRED IN FINDING THAT THE APPELLANTS' CLAIMS AGAINST THE MCNAIR LAW FIRM ARE BARRED BY COLLATERAL ESTOPPEAL.

The Summary Judgment Order found that, Mr. Lemons is somehow collateral estopped from pursuing the McNair Law Firm for their negligence in the underlying case. Judge Stroman, in rendering his order in the Motion to Reconsider, found that it would make little sense for a real estate commission to be earned on a contract of sale, in which the purchaser admits he never intended to go through with the contract he signed.(R. pp. 400) In fact Judge Stroman found that Mr. Hyatt's conduct was "fraudulent". (R. pp. 400) Clearly, reading Judge Stromans order, Scott Lemons had a very viable case against Mr. Hyatt, not only for breach of contract, but also for fraud. The South Carolina Court of Appeals, in reviewing Judge Stromans order, confirmed it as modified. The Court of Appeals never mentioned Judge Stromans use of the "null and void" terminology. The Court of Appeals based its decision on the fact that Mr. Hyatt did not fit the definition of a ready, willing and able buyer, due to his unwillingness to go through with the contract.

Further, the Summary Judgment Order fails to recognize that Mr.

Lemon's cause of action against Mr. Hyatt, was lost prior to any of the activities mentioned in the Summary Judgment Order regarding the appeal. These issues would be non-existent, had McNair Law Firm not settled their client's case without his knowledge, lied to him about the meaning of the release he signed, all to protect their interest in an unrelated business deal in which they had a conflict with Mr. Lemons at the time.

The Summary Judgment Order claiming that Lemons is collateral estopped from pursuing a legal malpractice action against the McNair Law Firm based on a misinterpretation of the ruling on the Motion to Reconsider in the underlying case, which was not adopted by the South Carolina Court of Appeals, is clearly in error. Both the Order of Reconsideration, and the Court of Appeals opinion regarding that Order, shows that both Courts felt that there was actionable behavior on behalf of Mr. Hyatt as towards Scott Lemons, in both contract and fraud. The Summary Judgment ruling misinterpreted the law of Collateral Estoppel, as well as the underlying Orders.

III. THE COURT ERRED IN FINDING THAT THE MCNAIR LAW FIRM CAN LIE TO ITS CLIENTS ABOUT A DOCUMENT, AND THEN RELY ON THAT DOCUMENT AS PROTECTION BY RELEASE OR RATIFICATION.

The Summary Judgment Order also finds that Mr. Lemon's claims fail based on Mr. Lemon's signing a mutual release and accepting money in the underlying case, and finds that signing of the release and accepting the money was a ratification of that claim. Ratification has three elements: 1) acceptance of benefits 2) full knowledge of facts 3) affirmative election. *Lincoln v. Aetna Cas. & Surety Co.* 300 S.C. 88,386 S.E.2d 801 (Ct App.1989). It is clear from facts, taken in the light most favorable to Lemons, that he did not have full knowledge of the facts of the Release. Mr. Lemons testified that his lawyer from McNair Law Firm lied to him about the contents of the release.

The Summary Judgment Order found that Lemons did not challenge findings that the case against Hyatt settled for \$5,000. In fact, as to Hyatt; It had settled. *Crowley v. Harvey & Battey* 237 S.C. 68, 488, S.E.2d 334(1997) sets out that if a client signs a release based on negligent advice from his attorney, although he cannot collaterally attack the Release as to the third party, he can maintain a malpractice against his attorney, and is

allowed to keep the proceeds from that underlying matter in an effort to mitigate his damages.

In this case, Mr. Lemons claims the McNair Law Firm, lied to him, by advising him that the Mutual Release was only releasing the earnest money in this matter, and that it did not stop his lawsuit against Mr. Hyatt for damages from moving forward. Based on that advice, Mr. Lemons signed the Release.

The Summary Judgment Order finding that Lemon's claims are barred by Judicial Estoppel is in error, because at the time Lemons took the position in Court filings, that his case against Hyatt had been settled, they in fact were settled as to Hyatt. Mr. Lemon's sole remedy at that time was against his attorney. Crowley Id.

CONCLUSION

The Order of Hon. Larry B. Hyman granting Summary Judgment is in error, and should be overturned, for the reasons stated above. This case should be remanded for trial