**THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA  
In the Court of Appeals**

---

APPEAL FROM HORRY COUNTY  
Court of Common Pleas

Larry B. Hyman, Jr., Circuit Court Judge

---

Case No.: 10-CP-26-9113  
Appellate Case No.: 2012-213156

---

Scott Lemons and Gold Coast Resorts, LLC,

Appellants,

v.

The McNair Law Firm, P.A.,

Respondent.

---

**INITIAL BRIEF OF RESPONDENT MCNAIR LAW FIRM, P.A.**

---

Robert E. Stepp  
Roland M. Franklin, Jr.  
William H. Jordan  
SOWELL GRAY STEPP & LAFFITTE, L.L.C.  
1310 Gadsden Street  
Post Office Box 11449 (29211)  
Columbia, South Carolina 29201  
(803) 929-1400

Attorneys for Respondent McNair Law Firm, P.A.

**RECEIVED**

JUN 13 2013

**SC Court of Appeals**

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

## ARGUMENT

Appellants' sole cause of action in this case is for legal malpractice, which they described as follows:

McNair Law Firm, while representing the Plaintiff, breached the standard of care, and was negligent by settling a valuable claim for less than it was worth without the knowledge or permission of their client.

(Plaintiffs' Supplemental Memorandum in Opposition to Summary Judgment 3; see also Appellants' Br. 6-7.) Appellants have not alleged that McNair failed to represent them adequately in Naomi's suit against them.

Under South Carolina law, a plaintiff in a legal malpractice action must establish four elements: "(1) The existence of an attorney-client relationship; (2) A breach of duty by the attorney; (3) Damage to the client; and (4) Proximate cause of the plaintiff's damages by the breach." Argoe v. Three Rivers Behavioral Ctr. & Psychiatric Solutions, 388 S.C. 394, 402, 697 S.E.2d 551, 555 (2010) (citing Rydde v. Morris, 381 S.C. 643, 647, 675 S.E.2d 431, 433 (2009)). In establishing proximate cause in a South Carolina legal malpractice action, the plaintiff must establish that the attorney's negligence was a "but for" cause of the plaintiff's damages. See Eadie v. Krause, 381 S.C. 55, 64, 671 S.E.2d 389, 393 (Ct. App. 2008).

As is discussed in detail below, Appellants' legal malpractice case against McNair fails as a matter of law on four separate and independent grounds. First, Appellants' breach of contract claim against Hyatt in the underlying case should not have succeeded, and therefore had no value. Because Appellants' claim in the underlying case had no value, the allegedly unauthorized settlement of that claim did not, as a matter of law, proximately cause Appellants any damage. Second, in the underlying case seeking a

commission from Appellants in connection with the Hyatt Contract, the court denied that relief because the Hyatt Contract was null and void. Having not appealed that finding, Appellants are bound by it and are collaterally estopped from asserting in this action that the Hyatt Contract was valid and enforceable. Third, even if the settlement of Appellants' claim against Hyatt in the underlying case were unauthorized, Appellants ratified the settlement through their acceptance of the benefits of the settlement and their repeated affirmations of the settlement to this Court and to the court in the underlying case. Finally, Appellants are bound by the mutual release they executed in the underlying case.

The order for summary judgment was proper if even one of these four grounds is correct. All of these grounds are correct, however, and the trial court correctly granted McNair's Motion for Summary Judgment. This Court should affirm.

**I. The Trial Court Correctly Ruled that Appellants' Claim in the Underlying Case for Breach of Contract, in Which Appellants Had Contracted to Sell Real Property, was Barred as a Matter of Law Because Appellants Did Not Have Title to the Property on the Closing Date.**

**A. The case within the case standard.**

"The plaintiff in a legal malpractice action must prove a 'case within a case,' as he or she must prove the merits of the underlying case as part of the proof of the malpractice case." 7A C.J.S. Attorney & Client § 331; see also Summer v. Carpenter, 328 S.C. 36, 42, 492 S.E.2d 55, 58 (1997) ("[A] plaintiff must show she most probably would have been successful in the underlying suit if the attorney had not committed the alleged malpractice."). The "case within a case" concept is "often employed to explain the causal relationship between the attorney's breach of duty and the harm suffered by the client." Wilburn Brewer, Jr., Expert Witness Testimony in Legal Malpractice Cases, 45 S.C. L.

Rev. 727, 731 (1994). The case within a case doctrine is relevant when, as here, “the theory of the malpractice case places the merits of the underlying litigation directly at issue.” Eastminster Presbytery v. Stark & Knoll, No. 25623, 2012 WL 723331, at \*2 (Ohio Ct. App., March 7, 2012).

“Under the case-within-a-case concept, the test is objective. Therefore, the test is not what the outcome *would have been*, but rather what it *should have been*.” Doe v. Howe, 367 S.C. 432, 444 n.18, 626 S.E.2d 25, 31 n.18 (Ct. App. 2005) (citing Brewer, 45 S.C. L. Rev. at 766); see also Ambriz v. Kelegian, 146 Cal. App. 4th 1519, 1531 (Cal. Ct. App. 2007) (“The case-within-a-case or trial-within-a-trial approach applied in legal malpractice cases is an objective approach to decide what *should have been the result* in the underlying proceeding or matter.”) (Emphasis supplied by court); Iacono v. Hicken, 265 P.3d 116, 129 (Utah Ct. App. 2011) (“A legal malpractice action necessarily presents a ‘case within a case,’ and requires the reviewing court to establish what the result of the underlying litigation *should have been* (an objective standard), not what a particular judge or jury *would have decided* (a subjective standard).”) (Emphasis supplied by court). “The question of the success of the underlying claim . . . is a question of law.” Doe, 367 S.C. at 442, 626 S.E.2d at 30. Because the question of the success of the underlying claim is a question of law, “decision of that question on summary judgment motion is appropriate.” Manning v. Quinn, 294 S.C. 383, 386, 356 S.E.2d 24, 25 (1988).

**B. Appellants’ claim for breach of contract should not have succeeded.**

In order to prevail in their case against McNair, Appellants had to prove that they should have been successful in the underlying case against Hyatt. The uncontested facts establish as a matter of law, however, that Appellants did not have a viable claim for

breach of contract against Hyatt. Accordingly, Appellants do not have a valid malpractice claim against McNair and the trial court correctly granted summary judgment in McNair's favor.

At the time a seller enters into a contract to convey real estate, the seller is not required to have title to the property he intends to sell. Searles v. Auld, 118 S.C. 430, \_\_\_, 111 S.E. 785, 785 (1922). Under the "American Rule," "a purchaser cannot, prior to the time fixed by the contract for conveyance, complain that a seller's title is deficient or encumbered." Wolken v. Wade, 406 N.W.2d 720, 723 (S.D. 1987). Thus, Gold Coast was legally entitled to enter into a contract to sell property that it did not own at the time the contract to sell was executed.

However, at the time for performance, the seller must have title to the property as a condition of enforcing the contract to sell it. See, e.g., Leiter v. Eltinge, 54 Cal. Rptr. 703, 710 (Cal. Ct. App. 1966) ("Ordinarily a vendor need not have any title at the time he contracts to sell real property, if, at the time set for performance, he is able to furnish the title he agreed to convey."). "[T]he [purchaser] may rightfully insist . . . that the title be perfect at the time fixed by the contract for final performance." Wolken, 406 N.W.2d at 723-24.

A real estate contract, like the Hyatt Contract, that provides that a deed shall be delivered to the buyer at the closing in exchange for the specified purchase price, creates what the law regards as dependent concurrent conditions.<sup>3</sup> A concurrent condition is "an elliptical expression for a condition precedent where performances are due at the same

---

<sup>3</sup> Appellants contend that the term "dependent concurrent conditions" is a rule of law "created" by the trial court. (Appellants' Br. 10). This contention is incorrect. Multiple authorities cited within the trial court's order and in this brief expressly recognize the concept of "dependent concurrent conditions."

time.” Restatement (First) of Contracts § 251 (2012). “Since concurrent conditions protect both parties, courts endeavor, so far as possible in light of the expressed intention of the parties, to construe performances of mutual promises as concurrent conditions.” 15 Williston on Contracts § 44:20 (4th ed. 2011); Am. Nat’l Bank of Winter Haven, Fla. v. Caldwell, 166 S.C. 194, \_\_\_, 164 S.E. 613, 615 (1932) (“It is the tendency of the courts to construe the undertakings of the parties to such contracts as being dependent, unless a contrary intention clearly appears.”); 35 A.L.R. 108 (“It is a fundamental rule that in contracts for the sale and purchase of real property the undertakings of the respective parties are considered to be dependent unless a contrary intention clearly appears [and where] the acts to be done are concurrent the covenants are dependent.”).

When a contract contains dependent concurrent conditions, as the Hyatt Contract did, the law is clear that a party may sue for breach only if that party was prepared to perform at the designated time. As the South Carolina Supreme Court explained:

Where the covenants are dependent and concurrent neither party can recover against the other without a performance or offer to perform on his part, unless performance shall be excused or rendered impossible by the other party. Hence, if a [purchaser] wishes to compel the vendor to fulfill his contract, he must make his part of the agreement precedent, and cannot proceed against the other without an actual performance of the agreement, on his part, or a tender and refusal.

Bishop v. Tolbert, 249 S.C. 289, 300, 153 S.E.2d 912, 918 (1967). This is the well established “American Rule,” and applies to both parties to the transaction. Under this rule, a seller must tender the title to the property as a condition precedent to enforcement of the agreement against the purchaser. “[W]here all or part of the performances to be exchanged under an exchange of promises are due simultaneously, it is a condition of

each party's duty to perform that the other party either render or with manifested present ability to do so, offer performance of his or her part of the simultaneous exchange." 15 Williston on Contracts 43:31 (4th ed. 2011) (emphasis added). The rule also provides that when neither party is able to perform at the specified closing date, and the contract provides, as here, that time is of the essence, the contract becomes void upon the expiration of the time set for closing and both parties' duty to perform is discharged at that time. See Nadeau v. Beers, 440 P.2d 164, 166 (Wash. 1968) (holding that when an agreement makes time of the essence, fixes a termination date, and there is no conduct giving rise to waiver or estoppel, the agreement becomes "legally defunct" on the termination date if performance is not tendered); Pittman v. Canham, 2 Cal. App. 4th 556, 559-60 (Cal. Ct. App. 1992) ("The failure of both parties to perform concurrent conditions during the time for performance results in a discharge of both parties' duty to perform."); 15 Williston on Contracts 43:31 (4th ed. 2011) ("After the time fixed by the contract . . . the conditions become impossible of performance, so the contract must be considered discharged."); Restatement (Second) of Contracts § 238 (1981) (noting that until a party has made an offer of performance "the other party is under no duty to perform, and if both parties fail to make such an offer, neither party's failure is a breach").

In the present case, neither Lemons nor Gold Coast acquired title to the Property. (Lemons Dep. Vol. I, p. 123, lines 15 – 16; p. 128, lines 23-25.) Gold Coast therefore did not have the ability to tender title to Hyatt on or before the date required by the Hyatt Contract. Because time was expressly made of the essence in the Hyatt Contract, the failure of both parties to tender performance by the specified closing date resulted in the

discharge of both parties' duties under that contract. Therefore, neither Hyatt nor Gold Coast could hold the other in default and there was no breach of contract. Because there was no breach, Appellants' claim against Hyatt was worthless and should have been dismissed.

In their brief, Appellants raise several arguments in an attempt to avoid the inevitable conclusion that their case against Hyatt had no value. None of those arguments is availing. First, Appellants cite an internal McNair memorandum dated May 18, 2007. (Appellants' Br. at 9; McNair Memo dated May 18, 2007.) As an initial matter, the conclusion reached in the McNair memorandum is irrelevant because the only issue is what *should have happened as a matter of law* in the underlying case against Hyatt. Doe, 367 S.C. at 444 n. 18, 626 S.E.2d at 31 n. 18. However, even if the McNair memorandum is relevant, it supports McNair's position in this case. The memorandum states that "if [Gold Coast] can acquire title *by the time performance is due* in the contract between [Gold Coast] and Hyatt, then Hyatt cannot rescind the contract." (McNair Memo dated May 18, 2007.) (Emphasis added.) Again, neither Lemons nor Gold Coast had title to the Property at the time performance of the Hyatt Contract was due. As a result, Appellants did not have a breach of contract claim against Hyatt.

Second, Appellants correctly rely on Searles, 118 S.C. at \_\_\_\_, 111 S.E. at 785—a case cited in the May 18, 2007 McNair memorandum—for the proposition that "not having title to property *at the time of a contract* for sale is not sufficient to indicate an impossibility of compliance." (Emphasis added.) Searles also states, however, that "[i]f the title is defective . . . *but such defects are cured at the time fixed for performance*, a rescission will not be permitted." Id. at 787 (Cothran, J., concurring) (emphasis added).

Thus, while a party may contract to sell property he does not own, he must “cure the defects,” *i.e.*, “own the property,” at the time fixed for closing in order to sue the purchaser for breach.

Third, Appellants suggest that Hyatt repudiated the contract and thus relieved Appellants of any duty to purchase the Property because doing so would be a “futile act.” (Appellants’ Br. 9-12). This argument is incorrect for at least two reasons. First, repudiation is a notice, given some period of time prior to a date fixed for performance of a contractual obligation, that the party giving notice does not have the intention or ability to perform. See, e.g., Franconia Assocs. v. U.S., 536 U.S. 129, 143 (2002) (“[T]he promisor’s renunciation of a contractual duty *before* the time fixed in the contract for performance is a repudiation.”) (citing 4 A. Corbin, Contracts § 959 (1951)) (emphasis supplied by court). Appellants do not and cannot cite to any evidence in the record indicating that Hyatt informed Appellants prior to the closing date that he would not be performing under the contract. Lemons testified that he never spoke with Hyatt at all. (Lemons Dep. Mar. 11, 2008, p. 39, lines 17 – 22.) The record contains two references to the timing of Hyatt’s notice to Appellants that he was unable to perform, and neither supports a finding of repudiation. One, Appellants’ own pleadings in the underlying case allege that Hyatt told Naomi, who was Lemons’ agent, that Hyatt intended to close with Gold Coast. (Answer and Third-Party Compl. 4.) Two, Appellants state that “[A]t the time of performance, Mr. Hyatt indicated he was not able to go forward on his contract [and] Mr. Lemons did not go through with the purchase of the property *once he learned that Hyatt did not intend to honor his contract.*” (Appellants’ Br. 9-10 (emphasis added).)

Because neither statement reflects any pre-closing communication of an inability or unwillingness to close, Hyatt did not repudiate the contract.

Second, even if Hyatt had informed Appellants prior to the closing date that he did not intend to perform under the contract, the law nonetheless still required Appellants to acquire title to the Property in order to maintain a breach of contract action against Hyatt. In arguing that Appellants did not have to obtain title because that would be a futile act in light of Hyatt's alleged repudiation, Appellants confuse the concepts of "tender of performance" and "readiness, willingness, and ability to perform." A tender of performance is "an offer to perform, [which] stands as a substitute for performance; that is to say, performance is imputed to that party who offers to perform." Jackson v. Rogers, 111 S.C. 49, \_\_\_, 96 S.E. 692, 693 (1918). The concept of "tender of performance" is distinct from readiness, willingness, and ability to perform. "Offering to perform does not establish the ability to perform, nor does having the ability to perform demonstrate a tender of that ability." DiGiuseppe v. Lawler, 269 S.W.3d 588, 599 (Tx. 2008). While a tender of performance may be "excused in the case where an obligee has manifested to the obligor that any tender made would not be accepted," Lewes Inv. Co., LLC v. Estate of Graves, No. 2893-VCG, 2013 WL 508486, at \*12 (Feb. 12, 2013), readiness, willingness, and ability to perform is never excused. See, e.g., Empire Props., Inc. v. Equireal, Inc., 674 A.2d 297, 305, n.5 (Pa. 1996) ("While one party's breach of a contract may render the other party's tender of performance a futile act, it does not relieve the other party of the burden of proving its ability to perform under the contract."); Kane v. Borthwick, 96 P. 516, 518 (Wash. 1908) ("[T]o excuse a failure to make an actual tender, there must be an existing capacity to perform, coupled with a state of facts which

establishes the futility of making the tender.”); Frostar Corp. v. Malloy, 823 N.E.2d 417, 428 (Mass. Ct. App. 2005) (citing 9 A. Corbin § 978 (2002) (“The requirement that a party claiming breach of contract establish its ability to perform as a condition to recovery rests on the straightforward principle that a party claiming deprivation of the benefit of a contract must show that it was in a position to obtain the benefit of the contract, but for the breach.”)).

The record establishes, and Appellants acknowledge (Appellants’ Br. 10), that they were never ready, willing, and able to perform because they never had title to the Property they had contracted to convey. Appellants argue that they were “ready, willing and able to obtain title to the property prior to Hyatt’s breach of contract.” (Id.) (emphasis added). However, the law requires more than that to support a claim for breach of contract. Because Appellants were never ready, willing and able to perform the contractual obligations they owed to Hyatt, the trial court was correct in granting summary judgment in McNair’s favor. This Court should affirm the summary judgment in favor of McNair on that basis.

**II. The Trial Court Correctly Granted Summary Judgment to Respondent Because Appellants Were Bound as a Matter of Law by the Prior Judicial Ruling that the Contract at Issue in the Underlying Case was Null and Void.**

Judge Stroman found that the Hyatt Contract was “null and void.” (Stroman Order at 3.) Based on that key finding, Judge Stroman relieved Appellants from the \$270,000 judgment previously entered against them in favor of Naomi and Re/Max. (Id.) Appellants never challenged or appealed Judge Stroman’s finding that the Hyatt Contract was null and void and, in fact, actively encouraged this Court to affirm Judge Stroman’s order. (Nov. 20, 2009 Brief of Lemons and Gold Coast.) This Court affirmed Judge

Stroman's order without modifying the finding that the Hyatt Contract was null and void. (June 7, 2011 Court of Appeals Opinion.) As a result, Appellants are bound by the finding that the Hyatt Contract was null and void and are collaterally estopped from arguing otherwise. Simply put, Appellants cannot have it both ways—asking one court to grant them relief because the Hyatt Contract was null and void and asking another court to grant them relief because the same contract was enforceable.

Collateral estoppel “prevents a party from re-litigating an issue in a subsequent suit which was actually and necessarily litigated and determined in a prior action.” Crosby v. Prysmian Commc'ns Cables & Sys., USA, LLC, 397 S.C. 101, 108, 723 S.E.2d 813, 816-17 (Ct. App. 2011) (quoting Aaron v. Mahl, 381 S.C. 585, 592, 674 S.E.2d 482, 486 (2009)). Collateral estoppel prevents the relitigation of issues “regardless of whether the claims in the first and subsequent lawsuits are the same.” Carolina Renewal, Inc. v. South Carolina Dep't of Transp., 385 S.C. 550, 554, 684 S.E.2d 779, 782 (Ct. App. 2009); see also Aaron, 381 S.C. at 593, 674 S.E.2d at 486 (holding that because respondent raised the issue of the validity of an assignment to the Indiana circuit court and respondent's position was rejected by that court and not appealed by respondent, the respondent “[c]learly . . . should have been collaterally estopped from making the same argument about the Assignment to the South Carolina courts”).

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